State Strategies for Expanding Economic Opportunity in Clean Energy

A Report by the Clean Resilient States Initiative

AUTHORS Morgan Higman Nikos Tsafos Stephen Naimoli

A Report of the CSIS Energy Security and Climate Change Program



About CSIS

The Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS) is a bipartisan, nonprofit policy research organization dedicated to advancing practical ideas to address the world's greatest challenges.

Thomas J. Pritzker was named chairman of the CSIS Board of Trustees in 2015, succeeding former U.S. senator Sam Nunn (D-GA). Founded in 1962, CSIS is led by John J. Hamre, who has served as president and chief executive officer since 2000.

CSIS's purpose is to define the future of national security. We are guided by a distinct set of values—nonpartisanship, independent thought, innovative thinking, cross-disciplinary scholarship, integrity and professionalism, and talent development. CSIS's values work in concert toward the goal of making real-world impact.

CSIS scholars bring their policy expertise, judgment, and robust networks to their research, analysis, and recommendations. We organize conferences, publish, lecture, and make media appearances that aim to increase the knowledge, awareness, and salience of policy issues with relevant stakeholders and the interested public.

CSIS has impact when our research helps to inform the decisionmaking of key policymakers and the thinking of key influencers. We work toward a vision of a safer and more prosperous world.

CSIS does not take specific policy positions; accordingly, all views expressed herein should be understood to be solely those of the author(s).

© 2021 by the Center for Strategic and International Studies. All rights reserved.

Center for Strategic & International Studies 1616 Rhode Island Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036 202-887-0200 | www.csis.org

About the Clean Resilient States **Initiative**

States often play a leading role in energy and climate policy, but their approaches vary and the effectiveness of their policies is hard to gauge. The Clean Resilient States Initiative assesses the extent to which policies at the state level can reduce greenhouse gas emissions produced by the energy system, create economic opportunity in low-carbon energy, and enhance resilience to climate-related impacts.

The Clean Resilient States Initiative explores the relationship between state-level policy and various outcomes in four papers and an associated database of policies. These resources will provide insights for policymakers and identify priorities for future research. This paper, the second in the series, looks at policies to create or expand economic opportunity around clean energy.

To support deeper analysis and ensure continuity over the four papers, a sample of 16 U.S. states was selected to study during the project. The selection process centered on three priorities: to include the largest energy users, to ensure diversity of regulatory environments, and to represent the different regions of the country. Each attribute has important implications for emissions reductions, economics, and resilience.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank members of the Clean Resilient States Initiative advisory board, who provided valuable feedback on an earlier draft of this report: Joseph Aldy (Harvard University), Sarah Ladislaw (RMI), Kris Mayes (Arizona State University), Jacqui Patterson (National Association for the Advancement of Colored People), Juan Carlos Garcia Sanchez (University of California, Davis), Richard Sedano (Regulatory Assistance Project), Susan Tierney (Analysis Group), David Victor (University of California, Davis), and Kate Zyla (Georgetown University).

This report is made possible by the Sloan Foundation.

Contents

1 Introduction		1
2 Is Climate Ambition a Prerequisite for States to	Pursue Clean Energy Opportunities?	2
3 What Institutions Do States Employ to Promote	Clean Energy Industries?	4
The Most Ambitious Climate States Tend to Favor	Big Anchor Institutions	4
Energy Can Be Embedded into Broader Economic	Development Institutions	6
Some Institutions Can Be Narrowly Focused		6
Large, Bureaucratic Structures Are Not Necessary		6
Some States Use External Partners as Anchor Inst	tutions	7
Convening Power Can Be Important Too		8
Loose Committees Can Also Catalyze Action—und	er the Right Conditions	8
4 How Do States Pursue Broader Political Aims Li	ke Environmental Justice and Equity?	10
Forecasting Workforce Needs		10
Just Transitions Are a Priority in States with Carbo	n-Based Industries	11
Environmental Justice Is Gaining Traction in More	Diverse States	11
5 Is There Evidence That Such Institutions and Pr	ograms Are Successful?	13
6 Conclusion		15
About the Authors		17
Endnotes		19

Introduction

he energy transition presents a big economic opportunity that U.S. states want to capitalize on. This ambition is evident across the United States—in small states and large, in big energy producers and states that produce little energy, in solidly Democratic states and solidly Republican states, and in states in between. This paper explores the strategies used by states to pursue economic opportunities related to the energy transition. It is informed by semi-structured interviews with 25 state officials and experts from 16 representative states, as well as a review of plans, policies, and programs in those states. 1 It explores four questions:

- Is climate ambition a prerequisite for states to pursue clean energy opportunities?
- What institutions do states employ to promote clean energy industries?
- How do states pursue broader political aims like environmental justice and equity?
- Is there evidence that such institutions and programs are successful?

Is Climate Ambition a **Prerequisite for States** to Pursue Clean Energy **Opportunities?**

here is an assumption, widespread in the literature and in the public discourse, that connects climate ambition with economic opportunity. States might take bolder climate action, the argument goes, because they see economic opportunities for themselves in the energy transition, or because the promise of energy jobs might act as a prerequisite for securing public support for climate action, or because a state with industries that can benefit from the transition might adopt more ambitious climate targets. There is an assumption, in short, of a virtuous cycle between climate ambition and economic opportunity—more of one begets more of the other in an ever escalating path to net-zero emissions.

But this is not what the research suggests. Even states without policies to reduce emissions are putting forth well-articulated and robust strategies for developing low-carbon industries. These states fell into one of two camps. Some, like Texas, Wyoming, and Louisiana, are looking at clean energy opportunities as a means to defend and evolve their hydrocarbon-based industrial sectors. This push is shaped by an understanding that the energy transition is happening and that existing industries in these states will have to adapt to be competitive.

The other states with clean energy ambitions that were divorced from any climate action were states where existing industries could benefit from the transition. Georgia stands out in this group, where existing competitive advantages in solar and batteries create opportunities for business, regardless of any climate ambition set at the state level. South Dakota was in this category, too, given its focus on biofuels. Just because a state does not have targets to reduce greenhouse gas emissions itself does not mean it has no aspirations to sell its products to others that do.

But even climate ambition is no guarantee that there is an industrial push to pursue economic opportunities—or, at least, that this push is economy-wide and continuous. Here, too, there is considerable variation. States like California, New York, and Massachusetts have economic development strategies that are embedded in state decarbonization plans. These states envision economic opportunity and lower emissions as reinforcing each other. But other climate-committed states—like Virginia, Oregon, Minnesota, and Pennsylvania—have climate ambitions without a corresponding economic development strategy. The focus is on reducing emissions, rather than nurturing industries and creating jobs in new sectors.

There is an assumption, in short, of a virtuous cycle between climate ambition and economic opportunity more of one begets more of the other in an ever escalating path to net-zero emissions. But this is not what the research suggests. Even states without policies to reduce emissions are putting forth well-articulated and robust strategies for developing low-carbon industries.

These different starting points and focus areas shape the tools and strategies that states employ. States with ambitious climate policies are more likely to have bigger and more enduring institutions to pursue these economic opportunities. But almost every state has some focus on developing new industries. The difference is, thus, one of degree. This also means that these are institutional setups that can appeal to states where climate ambition is nascent. Further, it means that innovation and new solutions are not necessarily tied to the states with the most robust climate policies.

In fact, industrial energy policies at the state level are a function of four overlapping dynamics. First, they are based on existing industries that offer a foundation for building new industries that could capitalize on the transition. Second, industrial strategies are formed based on resource endowments that could be exploited by new technologies (i.e., state resources that are suddenly exploitable, like offshore wind). Third, there is a focus on protecting existing industries from the threat of change and extendinh their longevity into the future. Fourth, there is the reality of market forces—what states can do is shaped very much by what is happening around them, whether this is demand for cleaner fuels or new technologies.

What Institutions Do States Employ to Promote Clean Energy Industries?

tates use anchor institutions to promote, attract, and retain value-added activities in clean energy. These institutions bring together technical expertise, public resources, and private partners to concentrate competing, complementary, or interdependent firms into clusters based on common requirements for infrastructure, talent, and other resources. Often these institutions focus on innovation, with the expectation that successful research will produce spin-offs and start-ups.

These institutions vary in shape, scope, scale, and resources. Some are big bureaucracies with long-standing programs and financial support that is sizable and continuous. Others have institutions geared toward economic development in general, rather than energy in particular. Yet other states use targeted initiatives to spearhead development in a specific, niche area.

The Most Ambitious Climate States Tend to Favor Big Anchor Institutions

On one end of the spectrum are institutions like the New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA), Massachusetts Clean Energy Center (MassCEC), and the California Energy Commission (CEC), which exemplify the anchor institution in its most elaborate form. These highly centralized, enduring organizations operate with express mandates to drive energy innovation and low-carbon economic development and help cultivate reputations for climate leadership.

While their individual missions and activities vary, each of these institutions direct public resources and attract private capital to reduce scientific, financial, and market barriers for clean energy technologies. Broadly, their support spans three interconnected stages of development: applied research, demonstration, and commercialization.

At the earliest stages of technological development, clean energy technologies face well-documented challenges including high capital needs, long and unpredictable development times, and complex regulatory environments.² These institutions have experimented with various structures to support the development of new technologies. In California, for example, the CEC launched the California Energy Innovation Ecosystem in 2016.³ The program created a network of four regional energy innovation clusters and a grant program to support early-stage innovators. The regional clusters provide entrepreneurs with resources such as laboratory equipment and services to promote and protect intellectual property development. The complementary grant program (California Sustainable Energy Entrepreneur Development, or CalSEED) provides recurring funding for concept feasibility testing.⁴

Moving from applied research to demonstration, promising technologies are often confronted by challenges associated with attracting private sector interest and investment. Since 2009, NYSERDA's six clean energy business incubators have offered a full suite of mentoring, training, and technical support of this kind. The incubators are operated by a mix of state colleges and nonprofits in partnership with private companies. They provide access to professionals, services, and equipment that may be expensive or otherwise difficult to obtain, including pitch coaching, marketing materials design, legal advice, and physical workspaces.⁵ These supports help start-ups portray themselves as real, credible companies, making it easier for them to attract and retain investors, employees, and customers. The incubators also serve as a formal and informal avenue for networking within and across clean energy ecosystems around the state.

As low-carbon technologies become scalable, anchor institutions can help new entrants identify and address challenges around market expansion. MassCEC's Fleet Advisory Services Program is focused on the demand side of medium- and heavy-duty vehicle electrification. The program is built around a competitive solicitation open to fleet managers. Program participants (fleet managers) receive education about anticipating costs, selecting electric vehicles to match their needs, locating charging infrastructure, and operating and maintaining vehicles. A subset of participants receives a full electrification analysis and strategic plan, as well as assistance with procurement processes. Rather than offering an ongoing service, this program serves as a window of opportunity for stakeholders and the state to collaboratively learn about the nuances of the burgeoning market.

These examples illustrate how these institutions support new technologies from the lab to meaningful market penetration. Their comprehensive services are especially useful in enabling flourishing clusters, which help retain economic benefits locally. Of course, the success of these institutions is attributable in no small part to long-standing, sizeable, and stable funding. Legislative allocations, utility ratepayer surcharges, and revenues from emissions trading programs underwrite these funds—revenues often subject to political opposition elsewhere.

While not every state will develop big bureaucracies to support clean energy economic activities, some of their useful design features are readily transferable. First, the highly centralized structure of these institutions raises visibility among key stakeholders, including researchers, investors, and consumers. Second, they support a wide range of technologies and activities, such that failure of one project is not determinative for the larger enterprise. Third, these institutions provide more than funding; they staff, partner with, and contract technical experts who can refine and advance their goals. Finally, NYSERDA and MassCEC have the benefit of being "all carrot, no stick," setting the stage for more open, collaborative relationships with stakeholders than might arise in agencies with regulation and adjudication obligations.

Energy Can Be Embedded into Broader Economic Development Institutions

Ohio's Third Frontier is an economic development program launched in 2002 with an initial \$1.4 billion, 10-year commitment to accelerate the growth of diverse start-up and early-stage technology companies. Third Frontier boasts some of the design features described above, but it works from a broader mandate, with a statewide network of resources providing access to business expertise, mentorship, capital, and talent for a range of technologies.⁷

Though Third Frontier is not energy specific, the program garnered the attention of energy advocates early on with its 2004 Fuel Cell Program, which sought to establish a sustainable fuel cell supply chain industry in the state. The Fuel Cell Program is widely viewed as successful in attracting federal support and private capital as an outgrowth of existing resources, industry, and research expertise. A nonprofit Fuel Cell Corridor Coalition, housed in a community college, continues to foster academic and private-sector activities. In 2016, the nonprofit was competitively selected by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) to serve as a regional center for the domestic supply chain. Between 2003 and 2008, Third Frontier had similar success cultivating a solar photovoltaics (PV) supply chain cluster, which helped position Ohio as the country's leader in solar manufacturing. The state currently accounts for about 30 percent of the nation's solar panels and will account for nearly half by 2023. 10

In the last decade, energy has become one of several secondary investment priorities for Third Frontier, representing only about 5 percent of its funding, while its primary investment area, biomedical and healthcare industries, receives about 50 percent.¹¹ Institutions like Third Frontier—with broad mandates to drive significant economic activity—can drive significant, persistent economic benefits in the clean energy sector, but ongoing commitment to it is not guaranteed over time unless the promotion of clean energy is embedded in the institutional mission, à la NYSERDA, etc.

Some Institutions Can Be Narrowly Focused

In contrast to Third Frontier's broad mandate, Wyoming's Integrated Test Center (ITC) was devised to promote research and testing of a narrow subset of technologies: those for carbon capture, utilization, and sequestration (CCUS). In lieu of funding, the ITC offers researchers exclusive access to capital-intensive infrastructure. The center's 20-megawatt coal-based flue gas power plant has put the state on the map for CCUS development because it provides real-world conditions to test commercial pilot and demonstration projects at scale. Launched in 2014 with about \$30 million in legislative resources and \$6 million more from private industry, the facility has attracted high-profile projects attached to DOE funds, as well as international firms like Japan-based Kawasaki. While to date the projects tested at this site have yielded limited capital investment or value-added activity for the state's coal industry, the ITC signifies Wyoming's ongoing commitment to CCUS technologies and now features prominently in the state's effort to help extend and transform the value of its fossil fuel resources.

Large, Bureaucratic Structures Are Not Necessary

Successful economic programs are built around bringing the right people to the table, and state convening powers and technical expertise carry weight. Not all states employ sophisticated, bureaucratic anchor institutions to support cluster development. Leaner models tend to use cost-share grants as seed

money to incentivize projects that can attract capital and achieve self-sufficiency in the near to medium term. This approach tends to be favored by states with fewer policy aspirations for decarbonization.

In South Dakota, the Governor's Office of Economic Development houses a Research and Commercialization program.¹⁴ Through a periodic, competitive solicitation, the program provides up to five years of funding for research centers focused on developing inventions, spin-offs, and start-ups. Since the program's inception in 2005, 10 research centers have continued operations after exhausting state support.¹⁵ While the program is not inherently energy oriented, two centers are currently pursuing improvements in lithium-ion batteries. 16 A third seeks to advance fluorinated functional materials science used in both solar PV and battery applications. 17

Texas's Governor's University Research Initiative (GURI) is quite like South Dakota's program in structure, though it features a considerably larger funding endowment and is more focused on attracting prominent scholars than building up those already in the state. 18 Texas's program, established in 2015, replaced the state's Emerging Technology Fund, which was embroiled in scandal related to allegations of cronyism and lack of transparency. 19 Like the funding allocated by the South Dakota program, Texas's GURI is not energy specific, but currently 5 of its 19 matching grants fund research related to clean energy production and storage.

An advantage of these governor-led, research-focused approaches to building technology clusters is that they may require fewer resources than larger institutions. They also allow governors to place bets on the next big thing in technological advances, where legislative efforts to do so may lose out to gridlock or competing priorities. The success of this model partly depends on the selection of research areas that are well positioned to secure funding beyond that provided by the state, usually owing to commercial potential and viability. A drawback is that these research centers tend to concentrate in the state's institutions of higher education, meaning the potential benefits to other geographic or demographic areas of the state may be limited. Additionally, this model tends to promote strong research programs, but there is not always a clear path or directive to retain downstream, value-added opportunities that follow successful research endeavors, like demonstration projects or manufacturing activities.

An advantage of these governor-led, research-focused approaches to building technology clusters is that they may require fewer resources than larger institutions. They also allow governors to place bets on the next big thing in technological advances, where legislative efforts to do so may lose out to gridlock or competing priorities.

Some States Use External Partners as Anchor Institutions

Minnesota's 2021 Energy Conservation and Optimization Act enables the development of a new, state-level energy technology accelerator to support an energy efficiency and conservation cluster in Minneapolis.²⁰ The accelerator is envisioned to mobilize a consortium of manufacturers to build technology supply chains, with buy-in from local industry heavyweights like 3M, Honeywell, and 75F, a Minnesota-based start-up. But the state is likely to cede authority and about \$5 million in utility ratepayer funds to a nonprofit to administer the accelerator, in lieu of a government-run program.

Minnesota's new accelerator is modeled after the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance, which boasts support for emerging technologies, standards development, and midstream incentives to expand the market penetration of maturing technologies.²¹ The new institution could be a promising kick start to a cluster that will support energy efficiency technologies from early-stage research to commercial-scale deployment. The only catch is that it may be difficult for policymakers to influence which technologies or markets benefit from this new institution. In all likelihood, this is a policy design feature and not a bug, reflecting a strategic compromise in the country's only divided legislature between (Democratic) policy priorities for climate and energy with (Republican) preferences for more market-based policy tools.

Convening Power Can Be Important Too

Georgia's Centers of Innovation (COI) nurtures industry clusters in five targeted fields: aerospace, energy technology, information technology, logistics, and manufacturing.²² COI distributes limited funding. Instead, the primary asset is the COI staff—experts with industry backgrounds and savvy who operate like consultants. They provide industry-specific business counsel to prospective, new, and expanding companies and connect them to the state's research and development hubs and investor networks. The energy technology group at COI has helped cultivate the state's rapidly expanding clusters in solar and battery supply chains, working to understand the needs of both firms and startups from the state's universities.²³ The COI energy team also oversees 11 living laboratories around the state, which pilot smart mobility technologies.²⁴

In July 2021, Georgia's governor announced a new venue to convene clean energy experts and stakeholders. The Electric Mobility and Innovation Alliance is intended to further advance the state's position in electrification-related manufacturing and innovation.²⁵ It will bring together government agencies, industry representatives, electric utilities, and advocacy groups to work on five committees that will engender support in supply chain, infrastructure, workforce, innovation, and policy.²⁶

An important caveat about the success of Georgia's COI model is that it does not really seek to create something from nothing. The ecosystems promoted by COI, and the new alliance, are grounded in the state's university systems and technical schools. The value of COI is akin to that of an air traffic controller, positioned to take a long and high-level view of the industry and make recommendations about how to improve the coordination and efficiency of ongoing activities.

Loose Committees Can Also Catalyze Action under the Right Conditions

Shortly after his inauguration in 2020, Louisiana's governor created a Climate Initiatives Task Force by executive order.²⁷ In a state first, the task force was charged with developing recommendations to address greenhouse gas emissions while ensuring the state maintains its position as "a world leader in energy, industry, agriculture, and transportation."28 Four advisory councils and six sector committees support the task force—over 120 members in all. Without legislative authorization, the

task force's ultimate impact is contingent on how much the governor's office can operationalize and institutionalize its activities.

The situation in Florida is similar. There, the state's agriculture commissioner—and statewide-elected Democrat—formed an Advisory Council on Climate & Energy (FACCE) representing a range of stakeholder interests.²⁹ Conveniently, the state's Office of Energy is housed under the commissioner's domain, in the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services. In recognition of the political, regulatory, and institutional constraints FACCE is up against, each of the plan's nine focus areas include recommendations about what could be achieved (1) with legislative action, (2) with only collaboration from other state agencies and/or stakeholders, and (3) without additional legislative authority or funding. Each focus area section concludes with "questions for future engagement . . . meant to spark conversation about solutions to Florida's energy and climate issues."30

The planning and advisory activities in Florida and Louisiana are not just about creating economic activity in clean energy. Rather, their assemblies of experts and stakeholders aim to support a holistic set of climate-related goals. These planning activities make way for a compelling thought exercise: What does a comprehensive, economy-wide decarbonization plan look like in places that have not made much progress to date? These cases might also represent the best test of the economic cobenefits hypothesis—that opportunities may motivate support for climate policy—because there is decidedly little political will among leaders in these states to support decarbonization activities (apart from the two identified champions).

How Do States Pursue Broader Political Aims Like Environmental **Justice and Equity?**

tate efforts to direct economic co-benefits to certain groups or regions usually reflect population composition and distribution characteristics. Initiatives to support equity and inclusion among low-income communities and communities of color are perhaps most deeply rooted in states with deep and long-standing climate commitments. But even states where climate commitment is not as deeply intertwined with economic development policy have focused on supporting these groups. Meanwhile, states without strong climate targets tend to have the fewest programs and policies to benefit particular groups. Where they occur, they often focus on rural communities and those that may face significant losses associated with the decline of carbon-based industry.

Forecasting Workforce Needs

Since ongoing efforts to remediate race, class, and other social injustices are vested in education, workforce development, and jobs programs, these areas are natural loci for disseminating clean energyrelated opportunities and co-benefits. These initiatives typically promulgate tools to better anticipate job readiness requirements, support hands-on training, and facilitate local hiring and procurement, even if they are not always energy specific.

In Virginia, for example, legislation enacted in 2021 created an Office of Education and Labor Market at the state's economic development corporation.³¹ The office is to be charged with forecasting and developing recommendations to enhance alignment between education, workforce development, and the needs of the labor market. The idea is to identify and address challenges like an "unhealthy collegefor-all orientation" and "unwarranted credential inflation . . . that makes it difficult for job seekers to secure well-compensated employment for which they have the necessary skills and capabilities." 32 As

Virginia's energy transition takes hold, this support for mid-skill labor may prove useful and necessary in ensuring that local workers have the needed skills and abilities to participate in new energy and technology markets.

Just Transitions Are a Priority in States with Carbon-Based Industries

There is also mounting attention to the needs of communities where power plants or other extractive activities are likely to be phased out over time. In New Mexico, the slated 2022 closure of the San Juan coal-fired generating station and adjacent mine is becoming a test bed for supporting new, clean economic opportunities that minimize losses associated with such closures.³³

Enabling legislation in 2019 spearheaded New Mexico's just transitions program. It prioritizes "affected communities," defined in the legislation as residents within 100 miles of an electricity plant closure resulting in at least 40 displaced workers. ³⁴ The de facto beneficiaries of this definition are rural New Mexicans—and in San Juan, especially Native Americans, who represent about 80 percent of the workforce around the site. The program is anticipated to support education and apprenticeship programs for renewables deployment, from which new energy facility construction projects will be required to hire. The state plans to underwrite program funding through securitization of uneconomic coal-fired power plants, an approach now in place in about half of all states.³⁵

In 2021, New Mexico expanded its work in this area by creating a Sustainable Economy Task Force. ³⁶ The task force, composed of cabinet officials (or their appointees) from 12 state agencies, is to develop and implement a concrete action plan for economic diversification to move the state away from its current dependence on the oil and gas sectors. The state's Economic Development Department has recruited a nonprofit research institute to help facilitate plan development and an associated online platform. ³⁷

Despite its foresight, the state—and others with similar goals—is likely to face some challenges. In the case of San Juan, the state reached a securitization agreement, but other utilities have expressed reluctance about this compensation scheme, which does not fully offset anticipated profits.³⁸ The local government in which the San Juan plant resides is also pushing to restart the coal-fired generating operations in partnership with a new owner who would retrofit the facility with CCUS technology.³⁹ Finally, a state survey notes public reservations about the availability and quality of clean energy jobs and benefits, a pattern also observed in other states with prominent carbon-based industries.⁴⁰ This example illustrates that state-supported just transitions are likely to require continuous negotiation with the communities they aim to benefit, even with proactive plans and leadership in place.

Environmental Justice Is Gaining Traction in More Diverse States

Environmental justice initiatives seek to empower historically excluded and marginalized groups. Illinois has demonstrated ongoing commitment of this kind. Its 2016 Future Energy Jobs Act took an approach that is increasingly common among states, linking an effort to deploy clean energy in low-income communities with a program to hire from them. The bill required that companies utilizing a low-income distributed generation incentive "commit to hiring job trainees for a portion of their low-income installations." ⁴¹ However, the act did not specify what was meant by "a portion" or who qualified as a "job trainee." Illinois' 2021 Climate and Equitable Jobs Act corrected for the shortcomings

of earlier legislation with more specific definitions; quotas; and statewide, programmatic management to support a comprehensive suite of labor, diversity, and equity standards in clean energy jobs.⁴²

Illinois' Climate and Equitable Jobs Act is unique for its encompassing definition of "equity focused populations." It includes groups conventionally understood to be historically and contemporarily excluded, like people of color, Indigenous people, low-income individuals, women, and people with disabilities. But Illinois' definition also includes formerly convicted individuals, those who are or were in the child welfare system, queer and transgender individuals, and energy workers and their dependents who may be subject to displacement.

To benefit equity-focused populations, Illinois' bill supports the creation of 16 clean jobs workforce hubs across the state. Much like previously described efforts to facilitate innovation, this state program is envisioned to work in partnership with industry to understand and develop needed workforce training and skills, as well as provide a kind of matchmaker service between work-ready individuals and firms in need of talent. A Transition Workforce Commission will help inform ongoing needs to steer, refine, or expand new programs as future needs arise. Additionally, the legislation specifies that all non-residential clean-energy projects must pay prevailing wages and, under the state's renewable portfolio standards, all utility-scale renewable energy projects that qualify must use project-labor agreements.

Illinois' legislative effort is too new to speak to its effectiveness, but it looks to be the most comprehensive effort by any state to promote inclusive job opportunities in clean energy. Its strengths appear to reside in its encompassing definition of targeted beneficiaries and its commitment to apprenticeship, prevailing wages, and organized labor across the state.

Is There Evidence That **Such Institutions and Programs Are Successful?**

hile most states support economic development related to clean energy, few evaluate the impacts of those efforts systematically. Part of this challenge resides in ambiguity about what to measure and how. States that focus on deployment can more easily evaluate the results, looking at capacity additions across different geographies of the state, direct and indirect employment, and occasionally employee characteristics like education or union membership. While these reports provide some sense of progress, they tend to cite third-party estimates of employment figures and trends, like the U.S. Energy & Employment Report, which can be difficult to link to specific programs or policies.

Estimating the impacts of state anchor institutions and effects on clean energy clusters is considerably more complicated because few institutions narrowly define anticipated outcomes or benefits. South Dakota and Georgia report direct impacts (funding awarded for the former, clients engaged for the latter), but cite difficulty estimating broader impacts on innovation and cluster formation. Climatemotivated states with large, centralized anchor institutions may be best-positioned to take a highlevel view because the institutions generally hold responsibility for strategic planning, budgets, and programmatic data. For example, NYSERDA's strategic outlook details strategies to support innovation, workforce development, and its green bank, with indicators of progress for each.⁴³

To the extent that clean energy economic activities are anticipated to empower disadvantaged and vulnerable groups, it is especially important for states to establish criteria against which the scale and quality of realized benefits can be contextualized. But stakeholder input can offer competing visions for what these criteria should entail and how they should be measured, if at all. A related challenge in quantification lies in setting goals around sectors, clusters, and regions where clean energy technologies do not yet factor deeply into economic activity—most notably in industrial applications.

To the extent that clean energy economic activities are anticipated to empower disadvantaged and vulnerable groups, it is especially important for states to establish criteria against which the scale and quality of realized benefits can be contextualized.

A variety of methods can be employed to conduct more rigorous assessments of clean economic development goals. First and foremost, evaluation initiatives benefit from efforts to preemptively define and quantify anticipated impacts, with detailed descriptions of where, how, when, and by whom pertinent data points should be collected and amalgamated. In anticipation of this need, New Mexico recently formed a new Economic and Energy Diversification Coordinator position, responsible for collecting and assessing data related to education, workforce, and industry presence to help benchmark anticipated improvements. Once data are collected, the simplest evaluation approaches take the form of input-output models or case studies. More sophisticated models are available in a variety of prefabricated and publicly available tools, including the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis's Regional Input-Output Modeling System; Impact Analysis for Planning; and Regional Economic Models, Inc. Where such evaluations are prohibitively costly or complex, data transparency and accessibility could go a long way in supporting both accountability and third-party opportunities for economic benefit assessment.

Conclusions

This paper explored four core questions:

- Is climate ambition a prerequisite for states to pursue clean energy opportunities?
- What institutions do states employ to promote clean energy industries?
- How do states pursue broader political aims like environmental justice and equity?
- Is there evidence that such institutions and programs are successful?

There is no evidence that climate ambition is closely connected with efforts to chase opportunities in clean energy. This research, instead, identified four possibilities. There are some states, like California, New York, and Massachusetts, where climate ambition goes hand in hand with economic development. Other states, like Virginia, Oregon, Pennsylvania, and Minnesota, tend to have climate ambitions that are not directly tied to a specific economic development doctrine.

Similarly, a state does not need internal climate ambitions to make clean energy a mainstay of its economic development plans. There are some states with sizable hydrocarbon industries. These states are keen to ensure the economic viability of their industries during the energy transition. They are looking to encourage innovations in related sectors where they have a competitive advantage. And there are, finally, states where legacy industries are well positioned to exploit new market developments without a corresponding element of climate ambition on behalf of the state. Georgia's push on solar and battery manufacturing stands out in this regard.

The institutional approaches that states employ vary as well. Some states have big, complex, and well-funded bureaucracies. Others have loose organizations or small offices meant to act as convenors or

connectors. This is an important finding. A state does not need a NYSERDA-scale institution to nurture clean energy industries. But scale, accountability, a clear mandate, and adequate resourcing all help.

Clean energy development is often linked to broader socioeconomic objectives. Some states, like Virginia, are looking to prepare themselves better for the jobs that are coming. Others, like New Mexico, are instituting targeting programs to help communities affected by the energy transition (in New Mexico's case, the closure of a mine and coal-fired power plants). Others, like Illinois, are making a more systematic effort to channel the opportunities created by the energy transition to groups that have been previously marginalized or disadvantaged.

A state does not need a NYSERDA-scale institution to nurture clean energy industries. But scale, accountability, a clear mandate, and adequate resourcing all help.

All these efforts, however, are rarely evaluated rigorously. There is a dearth of relevant data or even a consensus on what to measure and how. As a result, states spend a lot of money and resources to build industries without knowing whether those efforts are successful. This is a major blind spot for policymakers—one that, over time, states would be well advised to address.

In the end, it is clear that states are looking at the economic opportunities created by the energy transition and are eager to participate. What they focus on is shaped by their politics, existing industries, and resource endowments, and by rapid changes in the marketplace. But every state is, in one way or another, looking to play in this space. There are many options for how to chase these opportunities. But as they do, states will need to stay nimble, experiment, learn from each other, and measure success more systematically.

About the Authors

Morgan Higman is a fellow in the Energy Security and Climate Change Program at the Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS). Her work focuses on climate change mitigation and adaptation and clean energy transitions in the United States. Her expertise spans dimensions of climate action governance, including institutional design, policy innovation and diffusion, collaborative networks, and associated costs and benefits. Prior to joining CSIS, and presently as an appointed member of the Florida Advisory Council on Climate and Energy, Morgan has worked on issues of sustainability, conservation, and education at state and local levels in Florida. This work included developing greenhouse gas inventories and policy recommendations related to renewable energy, sustainable infrastructure, and environmental protection. Presently, Morgan is a doctoral candidate of public administration and policy at Florida State University's Askew School. Her doctoral research examines a range of issues related to climate action, including allocation of authority and resources, program and policy design, and distributional effects. Her doctoral research is supported by funding from the National Science Foundation, the U.S. Department of Energy, and the Environmental Research and Education Foundation.

Nikos Tsafos is the James R. Schlesinger Chair in Energy and Geopolitics with the CSIS Energy Security and Climate Change Program. In this role, he leads the program's work on managing the geopolitics of energy and climate change, advancing industrial policies for clean energy, ensuring a just transition for workers and communities, and equipping U.S. foreign policy and the multilateral system to deal with climate change and the energy transition. Nikos has written extensively on the geopolitics of energy and natural gas, the political economy of hydrocarbon states, European climate policy, sustainable cities and mobility, the pace and trajectory of the energy transition, and the geopolitics of energy in the Arctic, Europe, the eastern Mediterranean, and Southeast Asia. Before CSIS, Nikos worked for over

a decade as a consultant and advised companies and governments in over 30 countries on some of the world's most complex energy projects. From 2016 to 2019, he also taught a class on natural gas at the Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies (SAIS). Nikos has testified before Congress, and his views are often found in media outlets like the New York Times, Financial Times, Bloomberg, and elsewhere. He has written for Foreign Affairs, Foreign Policy, the National Interest, and others, and he is the author of Beyond Debt: The Greek Crisis in Context (CreateSpace, 2013). He holds a BA in international relations and economics with a minor in statistics from Boston University and an MA in international relations from Johns Hopkins SAIS.

Stephen Naimoli is an associate fellow in the CSIS Energy Security and Climate Change Program, specializing in electricity and climate change. Prior to joining CSIS, he worked as a research and communications fellow at the International Council on Clean Transportation. He holds a BA from the University of Texas at Austin and an MPP from Oregon State University.

Endnotes

- Interviewees included four legislative representatives, eight executive or appointed officials, three directors of quasi-governmental agencies, and ten program administrators. The selected states consist of the eight largest energy consumers and eight additional states that are representative of the country in terms of geography, economic structure, resource endowments, and energy systems.
- Benjamin Gaddy, Varun Sivaram, and Francis O'Sullivan, Venture Capital and Cleantech: The Wrong Model for Clean Energy Innovation - An MIT Energy Initiative Working Paper (Cambridge, MA: Massachusetts Institute for Technology, July 2016), https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/MITEI-WP-2016-06.pdf.
- Aleecia Gutierrez et al., The Electric Program Investment Charge Proposed 2018-2020 Triennial Investment Plan (Sacramento: California Energy Commission, April 28, 2017), https://efiling.energy.ca.gov/getdocument. aspx?tn=217347.
- "Investing in California's Energy Future," California Sustainable Energy Entrepreneur Development Initiative (CalSEED), California Energy Commission, https://calseed.fund/.
- Jen Loomis and Jane Peters, Evaluation Case Study: NYSERDA ACRE Clean Technology Incubator (Portland, OR: Opinion Dynamics, June 16, 2020), https://www.nyserda.ny.gov/-/media/Files/Publications/PPSER/Program-Evaluation/NYSERDA-Cleantech-Startup-Incubator-EvaluationCaseStudyReport-June2020.pdf.
- "Fleet Advisory Service Programs," Massachusetts Clean Energy Center, https://www.masscec.com/fleetadvisory-services-program.
- Ohio Office of Communications & Marketing, Ohio Development Services Agency, "Ohio Providing Early-Stage Capital: Third Frontier Growing Technology Startups & Talent," Press release, March 10, 2021, https:// development.ohio.gov/wps/portal/gov/development/home/news-and-events/all-news/2021-0310-Ohio-Providing-Early-Stage-Capital.

- Mike McKay, "Ohio Third Frontier Drives Investment and Innovation for Fuel Cell Companies," Fuel Cells Bulletin 2010, no. 4 (April 2010): 12-14, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1464-2859(10)70135-8; "About Us," The Fuel Cell Corridor, Ohio Fuel Cell Coalition, https://www.fuelcellcorridor.com/about-us-1.
- "2016 Ohio Fuel Cell Symposium," U.S. Department of Energy Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Technologies Office, October 10, 2016, https://www.energy.gov/eere/fuelcells/downloads/2016-ohio-fuel-cell-symposium.
- 10 SRI International, Making an Impact: Assessing the Benefits of Ohio's Investment in Technology-Based Economic Development Programs: Industry and Company Case Studies (Menlo Park, CA: SRI International, September 2009), https://web.archive.org/web/20170128143148/https://development.ohio.gov/files/otf/Ohio_Case_ Study_Appendix_SRI_FINAL.pdf; "U.S. Solar Panel Manufacturers," Solar Power World, September 2021, https://www.solarpowerworldonline.com/u-s-solar-panel-manufacturers/.
- 11 Ohio Development Services Agency, Ohio Third Frontier Pre-Seed/Seed Plus Fund Capitalization Program: Calendar Year 2020 Request for Proposals (RFP) (Columbus, OH: Ohio Development Services Agency, October 9, 2020), https://web.archive.org/web/20210916005235/https://development.ohio.gov/files/otf/CY20%20Pre-Seed%20RFP.pdf.
- 12 "About Integrated Test Center," Integrated Test Center, Wyoming Infrastructure Authority, https://www. wyomingitc.org/about.
- 13 Jeff Truchot, "Wyoming Integrated Test Center Breaks Ground," Wyoming Tribune Eagle, April 28, 2016, https:// www.wyomingnews.com/wyoming-integrated-test-center-breaks-ground/article_a0b6087e-edd0-54ac-ad38-9fc1db04a442.html; Nate Perez, "Gillette's Integrated Test Center Looks to Build on Its Momentum," Casper Star Tribune, updated June 11, 2021, https://trib.com/news/local/govt-and-politics/gillettes-integrated-testcenter-looks-to-build-on-its-momentum/article 9f4a0ca0-667a-5434-ac82-d4c6a1e1fd98.html.
- "Research and Commercialization Council (RCC)," South Dakota Governor's Office of Economic Development, https://sdgoed.com/public-records/research-and-commercialization-council/.
- 15 South Dakota Board of Regents, Research & Commercialization Activity (Pierre, SD: South Dakota Board of Regents, December 5, 2013), https://mylrc.sdlegislature.gov/api/Documents/Attachment/115415. pdf?Year=2020.
- 16 Mines News, South Dakota School of Mines and Technology, "South Dakota Mines Leads Research Centers Pioneering New Battery Technology," Press release, August 10, 2021, https://www.sdsmt.edu/News/CEPS-Battery-Technology-Research/#.YUqno6ApDX8; Christie Delfanian, "NSF Project to Analyze New Battery Material," South Dakota State University, July 30, 2021, https://www.sdstate.edu/news/2021/07/nsf-projectanalyze-new-battery-material.
- 17 Haoran Sun, "A Review of the Center for Fluorinated Functional Materials," TechConnect Briefs 2 (May 13, 2018): 48-51, https://briefs.techconnect.org/wp-content/volumes/TCB2018v2/pdf/409.pdf.
- 18 Texas Economic Development & Tourism, Governor's University Research Initiative 2021 Legislative Report (Austin, TX: Office of the Texas Governor, 2021), https://gov.texas.gov/uploads/files/business/2020_GURI.pdf.
- Matthew Watkins, "Legislature Replaces Emerging Technology Fund with University Fund," The Texas Tribune, updated June 2, 2015, https://www.star-telegram.com/news/politics-government/state-politics/ article22800357.html.
- 20 "Chapter 29, H.F. 164, Minnesota Session Laws 2021, Regular Session," Office of the Revisor of Statutes, May 2021, https://www.revisor.mn.gov/laws/2021/0/Session+Law/Chapter/29/; "About NEEA," Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance, https://neea.org/about-neea.

- 21 Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance, "Cost-Effectiveness & Evaluation Advisory Committee Meeting" (Presentation slides, meeting of the Cost-effectiveness and Evaluation Advisory Committee, Portland, OR, April 20, 2020), https://neea.org/img/documents/Q2-2020-CEAC-Slides.pdf. The Northwest Alliance includes the states of Oregon, Washington, Montana, Nevada, and Idaho.
- 22 "Center of Innovation," Georgia Center of Innovation, Georgia Department of Economic Development, https:// www.georgia.org/center-of-innovation.
- 23 "sonnen Increases Investment in Growing U.S. Energy Storage Market with sonnenBatterie Manufacturing and Innovation Facility in Atlanta, GA," PRNewswire, Georgia Department of Economic Development, February 15, 2017, https://www.georgia.org/2017/02/16/sonnen-increases-investment-growing-u-s-energystorage-market-sonnenbatterie-manufacturing-innovation-facility-atlanta-ga.
- 24 "Data Driven Decision Making," Georgia Center of Innovation, Georgia Department of Economic Development, https://www.georgia.org/center-of-innovation/energy/smart-mobility.
- "Georgia Electric Mobility and Innovation Alliance," Georgia Department of Economic Development, https:// www.georgia.org/mobility.
- 26 Office of Governor Brian P. Kemp, Georgia Department of Economic Development, "Governor Kemp, Georgia Department of Economic Development Announce Leadership of Electric Mobility and Innovation Initiative," Press release, August 7, 2021, https://www.georgia.org/press-release/governor-kemp-georgia-departmenteconomic-development-announce-leadership-electric.
- 27 Louisiana Governor's Office of Coastal Activities, Louisiana Climate Initiatives Interim Report (Baton Rouge, LA: Louisiana Governor's Office of Coastal Activities, February 1, 2021), https://gov.louisiana.gov/assets/docs/CCI-Task-force/CITF_InterimReportFINAL_02012021.pdf.
- "Executive Order JBE 2020-18: Climate Initiatives Task Force," State of Louisiana Executive Office, August 19, 2020, https://gov.louisiana.gov/assets/ExecutiveOrders/2020/JBE-2020-18-Climate-Initiatives-Task-Force.pdf.
- Nicole Fried, Florida Energy and Climate Plan: Powering Change (Tallahassee: Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, February 26, 2019), https://www.fdacs.gov/ezs3download/ download/89011/2560887/.
- 30 Ibid.
- 31 "Virginia State Statutes Chapter 502," Virginia's Legislative Information System, approved March 13, 2021, https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?212+ful+CHAP0502.
- 32 Virginia Office of Education Economics, "Introducing: Virginia Office of Education Economics" (Presentation slides, meeting of the State Council of Higher Education for Virginia, Richmond, VA, May 17-18, 2021), https://www.schev.edu/docs/default-source/about-section/council-files/2021-meetings/may/ voeepresentation.pdf.
- 33 Public Land Solutions, Review of Existing Economic Development Efforts (Moab, UT: Public Land Solutions, January 2018), https://publiclandsolutions.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/PLS-Four-Corners-Economic-Report-JK-121517.pdf.
- 34 New Mexico Department of Workforce Solutions, New Mexico Clean Energy Workforce Development Study (Albuquerque: New Mexico Department of Workforce Solutions, June 2020), https://www.dws.state.nm.us/ Portals/0/DM/LMI/NM_Clean_Energy_Workforce_Report.pdf.
- 35 Herman K. Trabish, "Securitization Fever: Renewables Advocates Seize Wall Street's Innovative Way to End Coal," Utility Dive, Deep Dive, May 28, 2019, https://www.utilitydive.com/news/securitization-feverrenewables-advocates-seize-wall-streets-innovative-w/555089/.

- 36 "Senate Bill 112 55th Legislature State of New Mexico First Session, 2021," New Mexico Legislature, https:// www.nmlegis.gov/Sessions/21%20Regular/final/SB0112.pdf.
- 37 Johanna Nelson and Felicia DePaula, "NM EDD Statewide Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy" (Presentation slides, New Mexico Economic Development Department, Santa Fe, April 19, 2021), https:// edd.newmexico.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Statewide_Plan_COGS.pdf; Matt Narvais, "New Mexico EDD Begins Crafting 20-Year Strategy to Diversify State's Economy," Albuquerque Business First, April 26, 2021, https://www.bizjournals.com/albuquerque/news/2021/04/26/nmedd-outlines-plan-to-diversify-economy. html.
- 38 Trabish, "Securitization Fever."
- 39 "Final Order on Request of Public Service Company of New Mexico for Authority to Abandon Its Interests in San Juan Generating Station Units 1 and 4 and to Recover Non-securitized Costs," New Mexico Public Regulation Commission, April 1, 2020, https://www.pnmresources.com/~/media/Files/P/PNM-Resources/ rates-and-filings/San%20Juan%20Abandonment/2020/1900018UT%20Final%20Order%20on%20 Request%20of%20Public%20Service%20Company%20of%20New%20Mexico%20for%20Authority%20to%20Abandon%20it.pdf.
- 40 New Mexico Department of Workforce Solutions, New Mexico Clean Energy; Jessica A. Crowe and Ruopu Li, "Is the Just Transition Socially Accepted? Energy History, Place, and Support for Coal and Solar in Illinois, Texas, and Vermont," Energy Research & Social Science 59 (January 2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2019.101309.
- 41 Illinois Power Agency, Long-Term Renewable Resources Procurement Plan: Final Plan (Chicago: Illinois Power Agency, August 6, 2018), https://www2.illinois.gov/sites/ipa/Documents/2019ProcurementPlan/Long%20 Term%20Renewable%20Resources%20Procurement%20Plan%20(8-6-18).pdf.
- 42 "Illinois Senate Bill 2408 Enrolled," Illinois 102nd General Assembly, September 15, 2021, https://www.ilga. gov/legislation/102/SB/10200SB2408enr.htm.
- 43 New York State Energy and Research Development Agency, Toward a Clean Energy Future: A Strategic Outlook 2021-2024 (Albany, NY: New York State Energy and Research Development Agency, January 2021), https:// www.nyserda.ny.gov/-/media/Files/About/Strategic-Plan/strategic-outlook.pdf.

COVER PHOTO AGNORMARK/ADOBE STOCK



1616 Rhode Island Avenue NW Washington, DC 20036 202 887 0200 | www.csis.org